[bookmark: _GoBack]

Minutes of the Public Board
Held on 16 December 2021 09.30 – 11.00
Via MS Teams

	Chair:
	
	

	Charles Janczewski
	CJ
	UHB Chair

	Present:
	
	

	Gary Baxter
	GB
	Independent Member for University

	Steve Curry
	SC
	Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer

	David Edwards
	DE
	Independent Member - ICT

	Rachel Gidman
	RG
	Executive Director of People and Culture.

	Akmal Hanuk
	AH
	Independent Member for Community

	Abigail Harris
	AH
	Executive Director of Strategic Planning

	Michael Imperato
	MI
	Independent Member for Legal

	Fiona Jenkins
	FJ
	Executive Director of Therapies & Healthcare Sciences

	Meriel Jenney
	MJ
	Interim Executive Medical Director

	Mike Jones
	MJ
	Independent Member - Union

	Fiona Kinghorn
	FK
	Executive Director of Public Health

	Sara Moseley
	SM
	Independent Member for Third Sector

	Catherine Phillips
	CP
	Executive Director of Finance

	Ceri Phillips
	CP
	Vice Chair

	Rhian Thomas
	RT
	Independent Member for Capital & Estates

	John Union
	JU
	Independent Member for Finance

	Ruth Walker
	RW
	Executive Nursing Director

	Stuart Walker
	SW
	Interim Chief Executive Officer

	In Attendance:
	
	

	Caroline Bird
	CB
	Interim Chief Operating Officer

	Nicola Foreman
	NF
	Director of Corporate Governance

	David Thomas
	DT
	Director of Digital Health & Intelligence

	Observers:
	
	

	Suzanne Rankin
	SR
	Chief Executive Officer Elect

	Joanne Brandon
	JB
	Director of Communications

	Marcia Donovan
	MD
	Head of Corporate Governance

	Hannah Stevenson
	HS
	Graduate Trainee Manager

	Secretariat:
	
	

	Nathan Saunders
	NS
	Senior Corporate Governance Officer

	Apologies:
	
	

	Sam Austin
	SA
	SRG Chair Llamau

	Lance Carver
	LC
	Director of Social Service, Vale of Glamorgan Council

	Lisa Dunsford 
	LD
	Director of Operations - PCIC

	Susan Elsmore
	SE
	Independent Member for Local Authority




	Item No
	Agenda Item
	Action

	UHB 21/12/001
	Welcome & Introductions
The University Health Board Chair (UHB Chair) welcomed all to the Board meeting in English and in Welsh. 
	

	UHB 21/12/002
	Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absences were noted.

	

	UHB 21/12/003
	Declarations of Interest
Sara Moseley declared an interest as a member of the General Medical Council (GMC).
The Chief Executive Officer Elect (CEOE) declared an interest as the CEO for Ashford and St. Peter’s Hospitals NHS Trust.
Fiona Jenkins declared an interest in relation to her joint role as the interim Executive Director for Therapies Health Science for Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB.
The Board resolved that:

1. Save for declarations of interest noted above, no further declarations of interest were noted. 

	

	UHB 21/12/004
	Minutes of the Board Meeting held on:
Public Board 25 November 2021
The minutes of the Board Meeting held on 25 November 2021 were reviewed for accuracy and matters arising.
It was noted that 2 independent members (namely, David Edwards and Rhian Thomas) had been present and were not noted as present and that the Senior Corporate Governance Officer would amend the said minutes to reflect the same.
The Board resolved that:

1. The minutes of the Public Board meeting held on 25 November 2021 were approved as a true and accurate record pending the attendance amendments.

	

	UHB 21/12/005
	Action Log 25th November 2021
The Action Log was received.
The Director of Corporate Governance (DCG) advised the Board that the one action logged on the Action Log (under reference UHB 21/11/023) would be completed by January’s Board meeting. 
The Board resolved that:

1. The Action Log was received and noted. 

	

	UHB 21/12/006
	Chair’s Report and Chair’s Action taken since last meeting
The UHB Chair commented that the Chair’s Report would be a verbal report.  
He expressed his thanks to all staff of Cardiff and Vale University Health Board (the Health Board) for their continued hard work. 
It was noted that communications had been sent out the previous day by the Interim Chief Executive Officer (ICEO), the Deputy Chief Executive Officer (DCEO) and the Executive Director of People and Culture (EDPC) and the same had highlighted the difficulties the Health Board would be facing, had acknowledged the current pressures staff were working under and that the wellbeing of the staff continued to be a primary area of focus for the Health Board.
The UHB Chair took time to thank two of the Executives who would be leaving the Health Board over the next 2 months:
· Steve Curry (DCEO) 
The Board was advised that the DCEO had been a superb Chief Operating Officer for the Health Board and it was noted that he had led the Health Board through difficult periods both when starting his role with the Health Board and, particularly, during the last 2 years during the Covid-19 pandemic. 
It was noted that the DCEO’s work had been admired across the various Welsh Health Boards and that he had made his mark in Wales. 
The UHB Chair added that the DCEO was very strategically alert and could translate those thoughts into deliverable operational plans.
· Stuart Walker (ICEO)
The UHB Chair advised the Board that since the ICEO had joined the Health Board as Executive Medical Director and then ICEO, he had demonstrated excellent leadership qualities and continued to be a great ICEO during the period following the last CEO’s departure and the impending start date of the Health Board’s new CEO. 
It was noted that positive relationships had been established with clinical colleague and that he was very firmly committed to being a champion of strong and effective quality of service and patient service. 
The UHB Chair concluded that it had been a privilege to work alongside both Executives and wished them every success in their new roles. 
He invited the Chief Executive Officer Elect (CEOE) to provide some words on her upcoming post.
The CEOE said she was excited at joining the Health Board and noted that it would be a privilege to work alongside the teams and all of the Health Board along with stakeholders, citizens and patients. 
She highlighted some areas that would used in her approach as the new CEO of the Health Board included:
· Area and focus of discovery. 
It was noted that thanks to amazing generosity, the CEOE had been able to start to develop a deeper understanding of the operations and challenges ahead and highlighted that her own values aligned with the Health Board’s organisational values. 

· Reassurance. 
It was noted that when joining a new organisation there was always an anxiety that it would bring a new wave of ideas but she advised the Board that she would listen and learn first and then if there were changes required, it would be through discussion and dialogue.

· People and the teams. 
It was noted that if teams and staff were not looked after then great care would not be provided to the citizens which the Health Board served.

· Covid Response
It was noted that there was still a lot of work in relation to the Health Board’s Covid Response and that she had already begun to understand the work the Health Board was doing with regards to the recovery and restoration of services.

· Strategy and planning
It was noted that the Executive Director of Strategic Planning (EDSP) had been very generous with her time and had shared plans and work with the CEOE by way of an introduction to some of the Health Board’s high level strategies and to give her an insight into the context within which the Health Board was operating.
The CEOE concluded that she was thrilled and felt very fortunate to be able to build upon the great work that various teams had been doing and thanked everybody for the opportunity and support given.
The Board resolved that:
1. The Chairs report was noted.

1. The Chair’s Actions undertaken during the period were approved.
	









	UHB 21/12/007
	Interim Chief Executive Report
The Interim Chief Executive Report was received.
The Interim Chief Executive (ICEO) informed the CEOE that the Health Board was looking forward to her starting her new role with the Health Board and noted that it was clear there was an alignment of her values and the organisational values of the Health Board.
The ICEO informed the Board that there were three areas he wished to highlight:
· The ongoing ability to deliver safe and effective care under the current pressures and that the Health Board was doing that thanks to the hard work and resilience from all staff. 

· The wellbeing of the Health Board’s staff, especially at that time of year and how staff could look after their wellbeing.

It was noted that staff had also gone above and beyond yet again to deliver against the third item which was; 

· The Vaccination progmramme and the upsurge of the demand placed against the Health Board.

It was noted that last minute requirments to deliver the booster and second vaccination response had been phenomenal. 

The ICEO advised the Board of the key role the Communications team played in supporting Health Board staff during the unprecedented circumstances. 
It was noted that a lot of routine activities had been stepped down to facilitate the Health Board’s ability to deliver a rapid response to the Omicron variant.  
It was noted that appropriate information was still being sent to the Welsh Government (WG) as required, but that the Joint Executive Team (JET) meeting had been delayed by Welsh Government given the arrival of the Omicron variant.
It was noted that the Health Board had continued to meet with WG colleagues in relation to areas such as the ability to respond to unscheduled care pressures, the Omicron response as well as the use of surge capacity.
The ICEO concluded that the relationship with Local Authority (LA) colleagues and dealing with the current “new” Omicron crisis had been phenomenal and thanked LA colleagues for all of the work they had been undertaking to assist the Health Board.
The UHB Chair endorsed all of the ICEO’s comments particularly with regards to the mention of LA colleagues and noted that partnership working was extremely positive.
The Board resolved that:
1. The Interim Chief Executive’s report was noted.
	

	UHB 21/12/008
	Systems Pressure Briefing (Covid and Non Covid):
The UHB Chair advised the Board that in future meetings the title of the report would be changed to “System’s Reslience Briefing”.
The Systems Pressure Briefing (Covid and Non Covid) was received. 
The ICEO advised the Board that papers would be taken as read and asked each item to be discussed individually starting with the Interim Chief Operating Officer (ICOO).

Operations including Operational Framework
The ICOO advised the Board that the Health Board had remained at a high level of escalation across the system which had included long waiting times for ambulances, long waiting times for patients to be allocated beds and mental health pressures. 
It was noted that occupancy, rather than demand, had continued to be the main driver of poor patient flow within the Hospitals, and the  “greater than 21 day stay” patients and the inability to provide timely discharge had driven that pressure.
It was noted that a system wide issue required a system wide response and noted that Omicron had changed the ongoing actions identified at previous meetings. 
It was noted that Omicon had impacted the Health Board and that the same had included:
Demand on workforce – Up to an estimated 30% of workforce could be off at any one time. 
It was noted that due to the uncertainty, the Executives had  taken a number of actions in relation to contingency planning, workforce and vaccinations. 
It was noted that data from WG, even with a lot of caveats, suggested that there could be an impact on contingency planning in 2 ways that included:
· Workforce
· Bed Capacity. 
The ICOO advised the Board that the Health Board was preparing to stand up the Lakeside Wing (LSW) for bed capacity and noted that 100 beds were already being used as part of the preparations. 
It was noted that when looking at potential demand plus winter pressures it could mean difficult decisions would be required. 
It was noted that there was a WG Local Choices Framework with regards to services being suspended (where appropriate) to support other areas.  
The ICOO concluded that the Health Board was in a very different place going into the next Covid wave and noted that staff had continued to show resillience and had stepped up, and she thanked them for all their hard work. 
The Independent Member – Third Sector (IMTS) queried what  capacity, in terms of staffing levels, could be built for patients who were medically fit for discharge.
The Executive Nursing Director (END) advised the Board that she had visitied the LSW the week previously and noted that it was an area of concern for the Executives because the staff were under huge pressure. 
She added that the learning from wave one of the Covid-19 pandemic had shown that teams being kept together provided a beneficial response because staff naturally looked after one another.  The END noted that it would not be able to continue with that approach during the current pandemic wave due to the  the changes being seen by the Omicron variant. 
It was noted that the mix of staff skills required for patients who were unwell compared to patients who were medically fit for discharge would be very different and so cohorting patients together would be an important exercise and that the same was being considered by the Deputy Executive Nursing Director.
The END concluded that she was concerned about the quality of care in areas such as the Emergency Unit and District Nursing in light of the Omicron variant and noted that teams would be paying particular attention to the Quality and Safety agenda and the data within those areas of concern.

The Executive Director of Therapies & Healthcare Sciences (EDTHS) commented that a multi-disciplinary team was working with the nursing staff in the Lakeside Wing in order to ensure that patients were being kept safe (for example, that assistance was being provided so that patients were kept hydrated).
The UHB Chair advised the Board that he had visited Ward A7 at the University Hospital of Wales (UHW) and that it was evident that superb team work was being carried out.
The EDSP advised the Board that daily conversations were ongoing with LA colleagues with regards to capacity and patients who were ready for discharge.
It was noted that care home capacity was being considered as well as alternative models of care in order to ensure that patients who had a delayed discharge could get back into their own homes where domicilary care packages were not immediately available.
The END noted that the patient safety walk arounds with Executives, Independent Members and Directors had a positive impact on staff and feedback was very good.
The UHB Chair advised the Board that the safety walk arounds could be suspended due to ongoing pressures.
The DCG asked where the decisions with regards to the operation of the Local Choices Framework would be made.
The ICOO responded that such decisions would be made via the Management Executive meetings and/or Board meetings, as appropriate. 

Quality & Safety 
The Interim Executive Medical Director (IEMD) advised the Board that, from a medical perpective, the large number of patients in hospitals had added pressure to the Emergency Departments and noted that the teams were doing everything they could to avoid admission or to get patients onto a smooth pathway.
It was noted that communication with the public was important with regards to the ongoing pressures the Health Board was experiencing in light of the pandemic and what they could do to support the Health Board.
The END advised the Board that there had been an increase in complaints, some of which had related to quality of care.
It was noted that the Complaints Team was now operating 7 days a week.
The END noted that the Health Board had continued to work with colleagues across Wales, to standardise the investigation of hospital acquired Covid – 19, and the application of the Putting Things Right regulations. 
It was noted that an Executive Led Covid - 19 Investigation Oversight Group and Scrutiny Panel had been established and that the Health Board had launched the ‘Safe to move – Saff I Symyd’ risk assessment tool week which had commenced on  6th September.
It was noted that the tool was developed to ensure the safe admission and transfer of patients and addressed some of the learning points identified as the results of reviews/investigations of cases of nosocomial Covid-19. 
The END conlcuded that the tool was supporting clinical decision making.
The Board was advised that the aim was to prevent people getting nosocmial Covid and a lot of work was being done around IP&C.
It was noted that visiting rules in the Hospitals had not changed and that there was still a central place where people could book visits with “End of Life” being an exception.  
The IMTS noted that it was clear that it was a very multifaced and complex situation and asked if there was the potential to boost capacity in relation to the Covid-19 telephone enquiry lines.
The END responded that there were 2 lines, one for booking (which was the line people had struggled with) and the other for the patient experience line. 
It was noted that further public communication would be required regarding the booster vaccination and that another appointment would be automatially rebooked for individuals who had not attended original appointments. 
It was noted that people who had not attended their appointments, would phone to rebook their appointments and that had caused issues with the vaccination enquiry lines.

Workforce
The EDPC advised the Board that the workforce challenges being seen in the Health Board were also being seen nationally.
She noted that as well as considering workforce models in light of the current pressures being looked at, future potential work models should also be considered to help reduce any future pressures.
It was noted that sickness absence across the Health Board had increased from 5.34% in April 2021 to 8.11% in October 2021.
The EDPC advised the Board that as part of the People and Culture plan, the main 2 areas included:
· Recruitment and Retention of staff
· The wellbeing of staff.
It was noted that extra teams were working on recuritment and that recruitment could now be fast tracked through the system. 
It was noted that there were staff shortages within Occupational Health which had caused an increase in waiting times for management referrals due to staff sickness.
A temporary solution had been sought and the Health Board (i) had employed additional resource through an agency and (ii) as of 1st December 2021 the Health Board was working in collaboration with Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board in relation to Occupational Health (OH) Services.  A new Head of OH for both of the Health Boards had been recruited to identify good practice, explore economies of scale and develop high quality, effective OH systems and effective OH systems and processes. 
The EDPC advised the Board that the draft People and Culture plan would be presented to the Board meeting in January 2022.
It was noted that 120 people had been appointed to the Kickstart Scheme (a government funded employment scheme for 16-24-year olds) and that a number of those had now successfully applied for permanent positions within the Health Board.  
It was noted that a further 195 individuals were currently in the process of being appointed and that had made a real difference. 
The Vice Chair noted that during the first wave there had been an agreement with Universities with regard to using students in different ways and asked if that sort of model could be revisited.
The EDPC responded that she had engaged with the Health Education and Improvement Wales (HEIW) and noted that a lot of students had now applied to the temporary staffing service (bank). 
It was noted that there was no desire to take students away from  the curriculum as might have occurred during the first wave.

Governance 
The DCG advised the Board there was nothing else to flag outside of the report received and noted that all should be aware that Executive attendance at Committees of the Board meetings had been limited in light of the ongoing pandemic. 

Public Health
The Executive Director of Public Health (EDPH) advised the Board that there were 3 main areas for discussion which included:
· Delta strain
· Omicron
· Mass Vaccination ramp up.
It was noted that Omicron aside, whilst case rates remained  high, the level of the Delta variant cases was declining.
It was noted that there was a clear declining trend evident in new cases in those people aged 60 and above which was likely to be due to the impact of the booster vaccination programme, and in recent weeks there was a declining trend in rates in those aged 25 and younger; 
It was noted that case rates in the 26-59 age group were stable.
It was noted that Hospital admissions had been falling, as had the number of clusters in care homes and that the number of deaths was low, although there had been an uptake in the last reported week.
The EDPC reminded the Board that there had been a regional prevention and response plan in place since Summer 2020.
It was noted that although the overall picture was one of improvement, the emergence of the new Omicron variant had  been designated as a variant of concern (VOC) by the WHO and that had meant that the outlook for the next few months was uncertain.
It was noted that there had been 23 confirmed cases of the Omicron variant in Cardiff and the Vale and a total of 62 across Wales.
The EDPC advised the Board of the planning for the Mass Vaccination programme which had included:
· The 6 week plan - the intention to vaccinate everyone over 18 by the end of January 2022 had changed to the end of December 2021. It was noted that the infrastructure to deliver was there but staffing would be required. 
· Increased hours predominately across the Mass Vaccination Centres (MVC).
· A Community Pharmacy provision and a mobile pharmacy bus. 
It was noted that a rapid increase in provision would require a significant number of additional staff ranging from administration, vaccinators, pharmacy support, and that discussions were currently taking place to determine how to meet that additional demand.  That had included holding discussions with the Military. 
It was noted that an externally facing ‘call to arms’ had gone out via the Health Board’s internal website and that the programme was also deploying staff from external partners including LA and South Wales Fire and Rescue Service.

The Board resolved that:
a) The Systems Pressure Briefing Report (COVID and Non COVID) was noted.
	

	UHB 21/12/009
	All Wales Robotic Surgery Partnership - C&V position 
The All Wales Robotic Surgery Partnership - C&V position was received.
The ICEO advised the Board that the paper related to an all Wales National Robtic Assisted Surgical Programme (NRP) which had been developed over a number of years.  
It was noted that Cardiff & Vale University Health Board had led the programme under the previous CEO and the Colorectal Surgeon and Innovation Lead.
It was noted that the aim of the all Wales programme was to rapidly implement a National Robotics Assisted Surgery Programme (NRP) in partnership with industry and would create the first of its kind worldwide for Colorectal, Upper Gastrointestinal, Urological and Gynaecology Oncology at Cardiff and Vale University Health Board along with three other Health Boards which included:
· Aneurin Bevan University Health Board
· Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board
· Swansea Bay University Health Board. 
It was noted that not all 4 Health Boards had signed up to the programme as of yet, but it was identified that the programme could move forward and that the contract was not dependent upon all 4 Health Boards signing up at the same time.
It was noted that the robot could perform a range of surgeries.
It was noted that the request was for £3 million over 7 years which was mitigated for a number of years because WG would pay 100% for the first year and then reduce the amount over years 2 and 3.
The EDTHS advised the Board that she supported the paper and asked to draw attention to the additional procurement that was discussed at the decontamination group the week prior and noted that there would be a decontamination element required. 
The EDF provided the Board with information regarding the costings identified in the report and the contributions the Health Board would make over 7 years with the maximum financial commitment over the seven-year initial period being estimated at £3 million, based upon activity levels not exceeding 284 cases per year.
It was identified that it was Important for the Board to understand that the DaVinci robot currently being used would be at the end of it’s life during the process of the All Wales Robotic Surgery Partnership.
The END advised the Board that more work would be needed to understand the impact on operations.
The UHB Chair advised the Board that subject to all Board members present reading through the full Business case by mid-day next Monday the recommendations could be noted and approved. 
The Board resolved that, subject to all Board members present reading the full Business Case attached to the covering report and raising any queries in connection with the same with the Chair no later than mid-day on Monday 20 December 2021:
a) The business case in and support the next steps of procurement process to implement by April 2022 was approved.
b) The KPI framework that was being developed to assess the impact of service was noted
c) The agreement with WG around tapering of financial support was noted.
	

	UHB 21/12/010
	Mass Immunisation Workforce Report
The Mass Immunisation Workforce Report was received.
The EDPH advised the Board that the work was complex and constantly changing and it had changed rapidly and regualrly since it’s inception.
It was noted that delivery of the Vaccination Programme had had started on 8th December 2020, had been delivered for over one year, and that the Health Board had administered circa one million vaccinations. 
The EDPH and END noted their thanks to all staff at reaching that achievement.
The Board was advised that the most signifcant challenge  relating to the Mass Vaccination Programme was workforce and it was noted that the Health Board had relied upon fixed term staff together with a large proportion of bank staff. 
It was noted that there was a Mass Vaccination Programme Board which met on a weekly basis and it covered strategy, workforce, finance and communication. 
The overarching budget had been managed by the Finance lead and that budget was referred to the Management Executive meetings.
The EDPH advised the Board that decisions had been made during the ME meetings with regards to making some staff permanent and extending some fixed term contracts.  
It was noted that due to the size and scale of the programme, the EDPH and END had taken those decisions in order to stablise the said Programme.
It was noted that those decisions, due to the sums involved, should have been referred to the Board for formal approval and hence the purpose of the covering report was to ask Board members to note that those decisions had been taken during the ME meetings and the reasons as to why.   
The overall budget for staff that was being articulated was £4.823m.
The EDPH advised the Board that governance arrangements had been reviewed in order to ensure that any such items were escalated appropriately in future. 
The EDTHS noted that the report had referred to the costing of registered nurses and highlighted that a wide range of staff had helpeding with the programme. 
The Independent Member – University (IMU) asked about the logistics of recruitment and the fact that other Health Boards would also be seeing the same shortages of staff as Cardiff and the Vale.
The END responded that Health Board was considering the existing resources within the Health Board and how that existing resource could best be deployed to the relevant areas. Further that the Health Board had considered other options.  For example, it had considered utilising people who would not normally vaccinate, to vaccinate.  To that end, it was noted that vaccination training was being offered to external colleagues such as Fire Officers, Police Officers and retired colleagues.
The Executive Director of Finance (EDF) advised the Board that the recommendations within the report had also referred to  newer pressures and noted that the paper referred to a risk together with those measures put in place to mitigate that identified risk.
The UHB Chair concluded that an accompanying letter had been received from the NHS Wales Chief Executive and that it gave the Health Board the authority to have the posts discussed in the covering report.
The Board resolved that:
a) The overall expenditure plan for permanent and fixed term posts were ratified as follows:
· The totality of posts to appoint to on a permanent basis equate to 129.65 whole time equivalent posts with a cost of £4.823 million. 
· 149 fixed term posts £3.466 million, of which 126 currently being used for immunisation (£2.931million) and 23 for testing (£535k)

b) The posts that were previously made permanent, equating to 56.37 WTE, with a cost of £2.103 million were noted.
	

	UHB 21/11/011
	Review of meeting 
The UHB Chair advised the Board that the meeting had been the first of the ninety minute Board sessions which would be held on alternate months to the “full” Board meetings.
The ICEO noted that the meeting ran very well and identified that having the constrained format gave everybody an opportunity to consider and have contemporary discussions.
	

	UHB 21/11/012
	Date and Time of Next Meeting:
27 January 2021 Via MS Teams
	





